
CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511 

**Please note that, upon reasonable notice, at least 24 hours in advance, efforts will be made to accommodate 
the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services.  For additional information to 
request this service, please contact the City Clerk's Office at 364-6680, 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511 

 
 
 

MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 
Beloit City Plan Commission 

Wednesday, November 5, 2014 at 7:00 PM 
The Forum 

Beloit City Hall, First Floor 
100 State Street, Beloit 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call 

2. Approval of the Minutes of the October 22, 2014 Meeting 

3. Certified Survey Map – 2600 Coyote Run – Acorn Development LLC 
Review and consideration of a four-lot Certified Survey Map for the property located at 
2600 Coyote Run in the City of Beloit 

4. Conditional Use Permit – 658 Fourth Street – Peter Gabriele 
Public hearing, review and consideration of a Conditional Use Permit to allow a pick-up 
window and drive-through lane in a CBD-2, Central Business District-Fringe on the 
property located at 658 Fourth Street 

5. Status Report on Prior Plan Commission Items 

6. Adjournment 

If you are unable to attend this meeting, please contact Gail Riddle in the Planning Office at 
364-6700 no later than 4:00 PM the day before the meeting. 

Notice Mailed:  October 31, 2014 Approved: Julie Christensen, Community 
Development Director 



CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511 

Page 1 of 2 
 

 
 

MINUTES 
BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

Wednesday, October 22, 2014  
The Forum, Beloit City Hall 

100 State Street, Beloit 

 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call 
Chairperson Faragher called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM.  Gail Riddle called the 
roll. Present were Commissioners Moore, Ruster, Finnegan, Tinder, Johnson, Mathis, 
and Kincaid.   
 

2. Approval of the Minutes of the October 8, 2014 Meeting 
Commissioner Tinder moved and Commissioner Mathis seconded a motion to approve 
the Minutes of the October 8, 2014 Meeting.  The motion carried (7-0). 
 

3. Zoning Map Amendment – 3311 Prairie Avenue 
Public hearing, review and consideration of a Zoning Map Amendment to change the 
zoning from C-1, Office District, to C-3, Community Commercial for the property 
located at 3311 Prairie Avenue 
 
Ms. Christensen summarized the Staff Report and Staff Recommendation. 
 
Chairperson Faragher opened the Public Hearing. 
 
Thomas Smith, applicant, commented that what he planned to do was to take out the 
small offices inside the building and leave the area wide open.  Mr. Smith stated that he 
has been trying to market the property for the past six years, adding that there is room 
for about 12 small offices. 
 
Commissioner Kincaid asked if access to the property was over an easement, and Ms. 
Christensen answered that she did not know.  She mentioned that the City has no 
record of an easement but that there would be a private easement on the adjacent 
property. 
 
Commissioner Kincaid asked at what point the City would be looking for an access 
easement and Ms. Christensen answered that the City would not be requiring an 
easement. 
 



Page 2 of 2 

 

Chairperson Faragher closed the Public Hearing.  
 
Commissioner Johnson made a motion to approve the Zoning Map Amendment.    
Commissioner Ruster seconded the motion.  The motion carried (7-0). 
 

4. Zoning Map Amendment – 1901 Gateway Boulevard 
Public hearing, review and consideration of a Zoning Map Amendment to change the 
zoning from DH, Development Holding District, to M-2, General Manufacturing District, 
for the property located at 1901 Gateway Boulevard 
 
Ms. Christensen reviewed the Staff Report and Staff Recommendation. 
 
Commissioner Kincaid asked Mr. Janke, City of Beloit Economic Development Director, 
to explain what was in each direction of the property, and Mr. Janke complied. 
 
Commissioner Mathis asked if the intent was to have it re-zoned and then sold off.  Mr. 
Janke answered that the City purchased the property because it is immediately 
adjacent to Gateway Business Park.  Mr. Janke added that he can never foresee the City 
dividing it up into smaller acre sites.  Mr. Janke stated that the intent is to market the 
site aggressively and then find an end user and developer. 
 
Commissioner Kincaid asked Mr. Janke to explain what ‘shovel-ready’ meant.  Andrew 
Janke provided an explanation of ‘shovel-ready’ and ‘certified sites.’ 
 
Commissioner Mathis asked if any environmental assessments had been completed.  
Andrew answered that a Phase 1 had been completed. 
 
Chairperson Faragher opened and closed the Public Hearing. 
 
Commissioner Mathis commented that it does concern him that there was not a Phase 
2 from an EPA or an environmental study.  Mr. Janke stated that usually a Phase 1 will 
identify prior uses and indicate if those prior uses had a tendency to cause 
contamination. The prior uses were agricultural and there was a clean Phase 1.  The 
prior uses produced nothing to cause contamination and therefore a Phase 2 was not 
performed. 
 
Commissioner Tinder made a motion to approve the Zoning Map Amendment.  
Commissioner Johnson seconded the motion.  The motion carried (7-0). 
 

5. Status Report on Prior Plan Commission Items 
Ms. Christensen stated that City Council approved the Verizon tower  with the 
conditions imposed by the Plan Commission.   
 

6. Adjournment 
The meeting adjourned at 7:28 PM.   



November 5 Staff Report, CSM, 2600 Coyote Run

CITY OF BELOIT
REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION

Meeting Date: November 5, 2014 Agenda Item: 3 File Number: CSM-2014-12

Applicant: R.H. Batterman & Co., Inc. Owner: Acorn Development LLC Location: 2600 Coyote Run

Existing Zoning: R-1A, Single-Family
Residential District

Existing Land Use: Agricultural Total Area: 5 Acres

Request Overview/Background Information:
R.H. Batterman & Co., Inc. has submitted an Application for the Review of a Minor Subdivision and a 4-Lot Certified Survey
Map (CSM) for the property located at 2600 Coyote Run.

Key Issues:
 The intent of the proposed CSM is to subdivide this 5-acre parcel into four lots of various sizes to be purchased by the

owners of adjoining single-family properties in Deerfield Estates and Deerfield Estates First Addition.
 In order to provide future street connections to future residential subdivisions to the northeast of the subject property,

the proposed CSM dedicates a 70-foot wide, 331-foot long segment of Coyote Run to the public. The proposed CSM
also dedicates a 35-foot wide (1/2 right-of-way), 780-foot long segment of Deerfield Drive to the public, connecting the
existing dead-end to Coyote Run. The proposed lots meet the minimum standards in the R-1A zoning district.

 Although the proposed CSM dedicates additional right-of-way, the applicant is not proposing the construction of any
additional infrastructure at this time. The existing street dead-ends will remain until future development occurs.

 The four proposed lots will not be buildable, due to the lack of (actual) street frontage. Therefore, Planning staff will be
recommending a condition of approval that requires the final CSM to label the lots as “out-lots,” along with a note
explaining that the lots will not become buildable until the dedicated street segments are constructed and accepted.

 The four proposed lots are currently used and assessed as farmland, which would complicate the assessment process
if they were combined with the adjoining residential properties. Therefore, Planning staff is recommending a condition
of approval stating that all four out-lots cannot be combined with adjoining residential lots until the agricultural use is
discontinued and the out-lots are converted to lawn. Accessory structures (garages, sheds, etc.) may only be
constructed on the out-lots once they’ve been converted to lawn and combined with an adjoining single-family lot.

 In order to make the proposed lots buildable lots, the Plan Commission and City Council would need to require the
construction of all required infrastructure (curb & gutter, asphalt, water, sewer, etc.) as a condition of CSM approval.

 The City’s Review Agents have reviewed the proposed CSM and agree with the proposed conditions of approval.

Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:
The City’s Comprehensive Plan recommends Single-Family Residential development of the subject property. Consideration of
this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5.

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the attached 4-Lot Certified Survey Map (CSM) for the
property located at 2600 Coyote Run in the City of Beloit, subject to the following conditions:

1. The final CSM shall label the lots as “out-lots,” along with a note explaining that the lots will not become buildable until
they are re-platted as regular lots and the dedicated street segments are fully constructed and accepted.

2. Each out-lot cannot be combined with an adjoining residential lot until the agricultural use is discontinued and the out-
lot is converted to lawn. Accessory buildings may only be constructed following this conversion & combination.

3. The final CSM shall be recorded with the Rock County Register of Deeds by December 31, 2014.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A

Attachments: Location & Zoning Map, CSM, and Application.



November 5 Staff Report, CSM, 2600 Coyote Run



November 5 Staff Report, CSM, 2600 Coyote Run



November 5 Staff Report, CSM, 2600 Coyote Run



November 5 Staff Report, CSM, 2600 Coyote Run



November 5 Staff Report, CSM, 2600 Coyote Run



CITY OF BELOIT
REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION

Meeting Date: November 5, 2014 Agenda Item: 4 File Number: CU-2014-08

Applicant: Peter Gabriele Owner: Peter Gabriele Location: 658 Fourth Street

Existing Zoning: CBD-2, Central
Business District- Fringe

Existing Land Use: Vacant Building Parcel Size: .20 Acre

Request Overview/Background Information:
Peter Gabriele has filed an application for a Conditional Use Permit to allow a pick-up window in a CBD-2, Central Business
District- Fringe, for the property located at 658 Fourth Street. The applicant intends to rehab a portion of the existing building at
648 Fourth Street into a restaurant. The pick-up window and drive-thru area for this will be located at 658 Fourth Street. While
the restaurant is permitted, the pick-up window requires a Conditional Use Permit.

Key Issues:
 The applicant has proposed the redevelopment of the existing buildings at 648 & 658 Fourth Street. Palermo’s Pizza is

anticipated to move into a space at 648 Fourth Street. The applicant is seeking approval for a pick-up window in which
the drive-thru lane would be on the property located at 658 Fourth Street. The attached Location & Zoning Map, as well
as the proposed site layout shows this configuration.

 This proposed pick-up window would be located in the existing garage structure at 658 Fourth Street. This will be used
for pick-up purposes only, not for ordering.

 Eventually, the applicant plans to open a small store and ice cream shop in the existing building at 658 Fourth Street.
This will have an outdoor seating area facing St. Lawrence Avenue. A Conditional Use Permit will be required for the
seating area in the future.

 The attached Location and Zoning Map shows the location of the parcel involved in this application. The adjacent
zoning and land uses are as follows:

o North: C-3, Community Commercial District; Office Uses
o South: CBD-1, Central Business District- Core; Vacant Building (Proposed Redevelopment Site)
o East: CBD-1, Central Business District- Core; Office Uses
o West: CBD-1, Central Business District- Core; Storage Warehouse

 According to Section 8-112 of the Zoning Ordinance, restaurant pick-up lanes shall include at least 3 stacking spaces.
The proposed layout has an adequate number of stacking spaces.

 Public facilities and infrastructure exist in this area and the property receives the full range of municipal services.
 The drive-thru provides one-way access from Fourth Street onto St. Lawrence Avenue. A bypass lane is required and is

proposed at the east side of the property. The entry for the bypass lane will be the same as the entry for the drive-thru.
The lane will then loop around east to offer an exit onto Fourth Street. Engineering has concerns about the close
proximity to the intersection of St. Lawrence Avenue and Fourth Street. Therefore, a Traffic Impact Analysis is required.

 While no parking is required in the CBD-2 zoning district, terrace parking has been proposed. This will require approval
from Traffic Review. This will also require a sidewalk easement since the sidewalk will be relocated onto the applicant’s
property.

 The applicant has also proposed additional parking on the west side of the lot at the rear of the building. The one-way
nature of the drive-thru creates access issues for this parking area. The proposed parking area recently had decorative
stamped concrete poured, which is not conducive to a parking area. Also, there is only room for one-way access out of
the lot at the curb-cut on St. Lawrence Avenue. Since the applicant does not own or have an easement for the western-
half of the curb-cut area, staff is recommending a condition of approval that removes this parking area.

 The City’s Review Agents have reviewed this application and have the following comments:
o Charter has lines and cables in the right-of-way on St. Lawrence Avenue that would have to be worked around

if this area is disturbed.
o Engineering is requiring a Traffic Impact Analysis, as described above.
o The Downtown Beloit Association is in support of this project and of the staff recommendation to remove the

parking area on site.
 The attached Public Notice was sent to eight (8) nearby property owners, which has not resulted in any comments.
 Findings of Fact

Based on Section 2-504 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan Commission shall make a recommendation based on
the following considerations:

a. Whether the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the conditional use will be detrimental to or
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare;

 The proposed uses will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals,
comfort, or general welfare. These uses are also compatible in this developed commercial area.



b. Whether the conditional use will be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate
vicinity for purposes already permitted;

 The subject property is located near manufacturing and other commercial uses. Any additional
traffic, noise, or glare generated by this development is compatible with existing conditions.

c. Whether the conditional use will substantially diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood of
the subject property;

 The proposed use will not diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood. It will likely
increase property values due to increased economic activity and exterior appearance.

d. Whether the establishment of the conditional use will impede the normal and orderly development and
improvement of the surrounding property;

 This is an urbanized area and the surrounding properties are developed.
e. Whether the exterior architectural design or site layout of the proposed conditional use is so dissimilar or

otherwise incompatible with existing or proposed development in the immediate neighborhood that it will
cause a depreciation in property values;

 While a drive-thru lane going through an existing garage structure is unusual, it is compatible with
other downtown designs. During Architectural Review, Planning staff will ensure that the proposed
building façade is attractive.

f. Whether adequate utilities, access roads, drainage or other necessary facilities will be available to serve
the proposed use at the time of its occupancy or use;

 Adequate facilities and infrastructure are available to serve the conditional use. The applicant’s
proposed parking is not required or necessary for this site development.

g. Whether adequate measures will be taken to minimize traffic congestion; and
 The proposed pick-up window will have enough stacking spaces to avoid traffic congestion.
 The possible interruption of traffic flow from the proposed bypass lane will be examined during the

Traffic Impact Analysis.
h. Whether the conditional use will comply with all applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance.

 The conditional use will comply with all other applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance.

Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:
The Downtown Redevelopment Plan recommends Planned Mixed Use: Office and Upper Residential uses for the subject
property. This proposed development and the underlying zoning classification are consistent with this recommendation.
Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5.

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow pick-up window in a
CBD-2, Central Business District- Fringe, for the property located at 658 Fourth Street, based on the above Findings of Fact and
subject to the following conditions:

1. This Conditional Use Permit authorizes the pick-up window and drive-thru lane at the subject property, with the
restaurant being established in the existing structure at 648 Fourth Street.

2. Site Plan Review and Architectural Review are required prior to beginning work on this project.
3. The applicant shall maintain a minimum of three (3) stacking spaces for the pick-up window.
4. The applicant must coordinate with Charter concerning their existing infrastructure in the right-of-way of St. Lawrence

Avenue.
5. A Traffic Impact Analysis must be completed, reviewed, and approved by the City Engineer prior to the start of work.
6. The parking area on the west side of the existing building on the subject property is not allowed.
7. “One Way/Do Not Enter” signs must be installed at the St. Lawrence Avenue curb-cut.
8. Traffic Review Committee approval is required for the proposed terrace parking on St. Lawrence Avenue.
9. If approved, the applicant shall grant a sidewalk and public parking easement. The applicant will be responsible for the

cost of these improvements.
10. All improvements shown on the site plan must be completed by November 17, 2015.
11. This Conditional Use Permit does not allow for an outdoor seating area.
12. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by the Plan Commission and City

Council by amending this Conditional Use Permit. The Director of Planning & Building Services may approve minor
changes administratively.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A

Attachments: Location & Zoning Map, Site Plan, Site Photos, Application, Public Notice, and Mailing List.





Original Submission: Does not
show terrace parking, bypass lane,

or proposed site parking



Add One
Way/Do Not
Enter Signs

Requires
Traffic
Review
Approval

Parking Area
Recommended for
Denial by Staff

Traffic
Impact
Analysis
Required

Proposed
Pick-Up
Window
Location

Final Submission with Landscaping Details

Requires
Sidewalk
Easement



Current Front View (Fourth Street)

Current Rear View (St. Lawrence Ave)

Garage to be used for
drive-thru

Proposed bypass lane
here

One-way exit for drive-
thru









November 5 Staff Report, CU, 658 Fourth Street


